RECEIVED

Dec 29 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
R. Lawton McIntosh, Trial Court Judge

Court of Common Pleas Case No. 2023-CP-37-00329
Appellate Court Case No. 2025-000537

Hugh T. Watson

Appellant,

v.

Hayward Baker, Inc.; Keller North
America, Inc.; and Ground
Technology, Inc. d/b/a D'Appolonia
Engineering Division of Ground
Technology, Inc.,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

/s/ K. Jay Anthony

K. Jay Anthony, Esq. (S.C. Bar 77433)
Anthony Law, LLC
650 E. Washington Street
Greenville, SC 29601
janthony@anthonylawsc.com

Mason A. Goldsmith, Jr., Esq. (S.C. Bar # 2182)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in applying an “over-arching principle” unsupported by the law in granting summary judgment to Keller?
- II. Did the trial court err in finding that most all of the Plaintiff’s claims are barred by the statute of limitations?
- III. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment to Keller based on the statute of repose?
- IV. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment to Keller on Plaintiff’s claim for constructive fraud?
- V. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment to Keller on Plaintiff’s claim for negligent misrepresentation?
- VI. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment to Keller on Plaintiff’s claim for breach of implied warranties?
- VII. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment to Keller on Plaintiff’s claim for promissory estoppel?
- VIII. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment to D’Appolonia based on the statute of repose?
- IX. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment to D’Appolonia based on the alleged lack of duty to Plaintiff?

In 2015, Hugh Watson was considering purchasing a home on Lake Keowee in Salem, South Carolina. He became hesitant when it was disclosed to him that the home had undergone slope stabilization measures years earlier to prevent the structure from sliding downhill towards the lake. The owners assured him that he had nothing to worry about and explained that the engineer in charge of that project, John Wolosick with Keller North America, Inc.¹ (“Keller”), had offered to talk to prospective purchasers. Mr. Watson therefore reached out to Mr. Wolosick and, during a phone call, Mr. Wolosick assured him that the system was performing, would last for at least sixty years, that the slope was stable, and that the lake house “wasn’t going anywhere.” Based on this, Mr. Watson purchased the home as his primary residence.

But – as Mr. Watson would later learn – there was much more to the story than Mr. Wolosick had let on. Prior readings of a built-in inclinometer had shown that, in just three years, the system had experienced twice the movement that Keller had expected over a five-year period. Further readings demonstrated that the system was continuing to move, which data Mr. Wolosick described as “unusual and a bit perplexing” Wolosick had discovered that the soils were weaker than he had anticipated and that there was a “progressive slide” in soils to the right of the stabilization system that was “tugging” on the system. In 2006, the owners had reached out to Wolosick with concern after a water line broke – something that had occurred with prior slide movement, prompting further readings and investigation. And, at the point of the call with Watson, Wolosick had not visited the property for eight years. Mr. Wolosick mentioned none of this on the call – not even the existence of the built-in inclinometer. He simply assured Watson that the system on the home he was considering purchasing was fine and he had no cause for concern.

¹ Hayward Baker, Inc. performed the stabilization work in this matter. Keller North America is the successor by merger to Keller, Inc. (R. p. 23). As the lower court refers to this defendant as Keller, Appellant will do so here.

In May of 2020, Watson discovered a crack in his kitchen wall and called Mr. Wolosick. The engineer visited the property a couple months later and, during that visit, suggested that Mr. Watson have measurements taken from the built-in inclinometer. When another company then came to the site and attempted to take readings, they were unable to get the probe to descend to a sufficient depth within the inclinometer casing. Ultimately, a camera lowered into the tubing revealed that the reason the probe would not descend was that the system had undergone such severe movement that the casing had been bent.

Mr. Watson engaged two engineers – one with experience in foundations and soil movement and another geotechnical engineering experience. The engineers opined – in affidavits attached to the Complaint and in depositions – that the residence is not stable and that the slope stabilization system has not stopped movement of the slope. The engineers further opined that Keller, as well as the company it hired to design the system, were negligent and grossly negligent in the design and construction of the system. The engineers also stated that Mr. Wolosick and his company were grossly negligent in failing to recognize and respond to the warning signs that showed that the system was not effective. Notably, even Mr. Wolosick agrees that “significantly more movement has occurred” since the system was installed, which has resulted in new cracks in the home, though he blames other causes.

Despite all of this, the lower court granted the Defendants’ motions for summary judgment. Oddly, the lower court felt that the “overarching principle” behind its summary judgment holding was that the prior homeowners had a five-year express warranty, even though none of Mr. Watson’s claims is for breach of the express warranty. Further, the court – after reciting evidence viewed in the light most favorable to the *Defendants* – stated that there was simply “no evidence from which a jury could conclude” that the Defendants were grossly

negligent and granted summary judgment as to all of Plaintiff's claims other than promissory estoppel, which was granted separately.

This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Construction and Initial Settlement

In the early 1990s, Bart and Stephanie Schmidt constructed a home at Lake Keowee. (R. p. 1377, lines 8-14). Approximately five years later, the lakeside of the home had experienced significant settlement. (Id. at R. p. 1378, lines 17-24.) After failed attempts to lift the foundation of the home using helical piles, the Schmidts hired Keller. (Id. at R. p. 1379, lines 7-10).

Mr. Wolosick visited the property and quickly identified the problem – the helical piles had effectively attached the home to an underground landslide. (R. p. 852, lines 1-4). Keller then detached the helical pile anchors. (Id. at R. p. 852, lines 18-25). Wolosick then reached out to Brad Campbell with D'Appolonia Engineering to design a slope stabilization system to address the landslide. (Id. at R. p. 854, lines 19-25; R. p. 855, lines 1-3).

B. Completion of Work and Installation of Inclinometer

The companies performed their work in 2002. (Id. at R. p. 1031, lines 22-24). As part of the work, Keller installed an inclinometer – an encased tube that descended into the earth into which a measuring device could be lowered to monitor movement. (Id. at R. p. 933, lines 2-20). Mr. Wolosick explained that the installation of an inclinometer on a residential project was not typical and this was the only residential project he could recall where that was done. (Id. at R. p. 935, lines 2-7).

C. Warranty

Keller also provided an express warranty to the Schmidts at the conclusion of the project. (R. p. 1153). Mr. Wolosick explained that this was not a standard practice of the company and was specially drafted at the request of Mr. Schmidt. (R. p. 914 lines 16-22).

The warranty provided, in part, as follows:

For a period of 5 years from the completion date (April 6, 2002) of the work at the above referenced property, HBI warrants that the slope area affected by the slope retention program (hereinafter “the Area”) shall not experience movements greater than $\frac{3}{4}$ inch horizontal, as measured by the installed slope inclinometer over the term of this Warranty. . . .

Additional slope stabilization work will be performed, if required by detailed engineering review, at no additional cost to Owner if movement in “the Area” exceeds $\frac{3}{4}$ inch horizontal movement within the 5-year period from the completion date. The obligations of HBI *under this Warranty* will be limited to performing additional slope stabilization work to stop any additional movements within the herein stated $\frac{3}{4}$ inch criteria. In no event shall the cost expended by HBI to perform such additional work exceed \$100,000.

(R. p. 1153 (emphasis added)).

Asked about the express warranty in his deposition, Mr. Wolosick stated that he was not involved and minimized the idea of the 3/4-inch benchmark set out in the warranty. (R. p. 916, lines 4-19). Asked whether there would be an outer limit at which the amount of movement was excessive, Mr. Wolosick replied: “Yes, definitely. Anything that would cause damage to the house is excessive.” (*Id.* at R. p. 916, lines 20-25; R. p. 917, lines 1-15).

D. Movement in November 2004

As noted, the system installation was completed in April of 2002. In November of 2004, inclinometer readings showed movement of one inch. (R. p. 1155; R. p.939, lines 19-24). Rather than expressing a lack of surprise at such movement, Mr. Wolosick sent the data to others to attempt to determine if the inclinometer had malfunctioned and provided faulty readings. (*Id.*

at R. p. 940, lines 1-16; R. p. 942, lines 7-19). The third-party – Erik Mikkelsen with Geometron – confirmed the readings were valid. (R. pp. 1157-1164). Mr. Wolosick then went to the residence and had lunch with the Schmidts. (Id. at R. p. 943, lines 4-10). At that visit, he “looked around the house, looked at the old cracks. They were gone and all their finish, you know, was still looking good. So there was no damage whatsoever.” (Id.) In his deposition, Mr. Wolosick minimized the importance of the reading, stating that “one inch isn’t going to damage the house. I mean it’s – one inch horizontally is nothing.” (Id. at R. p. 943, lines 17-19).

Mr. Wolosick reported the readings to D’Appolonia, as the designer of the system. (R. pp. 1157-1164). In doing so, Mr. Wolosick reported that there was no damage to the house. (Id.) D’Appolonia took no action and made no investigation, but simply replied, noting the lack of distress to the residence and concluding that the slope stabilization system was performing well and no additional measures were required. (Id.) Mr. Wolosick then wrote to the Schmidts, advised of the reading, and stated: “Based on the evaluations of the data by our engineers, the system is performing well, and as intended. No additional work is required at your residence.” (Id.)

E. June 2005 – Further Movement

In its letter in October of 2004, Mr. Mikkelsen recommended an additional set of readings of the inclinometer in March or April of 2005 to verify that the system was functioning properly. (R. pp. 1157-1164). When this was done by a company called QORE in June of 2005, the readings showed that another ½ inch of movement had occurred since the last reading, resulting in total movement of 1.5 inches since the initial reading at the installation of the system. (R. pp. 1165-1171). The report noted: “The majority of the slope movement appears to have occurred near the ground surface and at about 28 feet below grade level.” (Id.)

Mr. Wolosick wrote an e-mail to Mr. Schmidt relaying the findings:

Bart: Well, the inclinometer shows some more slight movement. I have attached Tim Russell's report to this email. The readings indicate movement of about ¼ inch over the last year. *This is a very small amount of movement, but it is somewhat unusual and a bit perplexing to us. We have studied the movement profile and find that the soil is continuing to bulge, ever so slightly under the anchor system. In addition, there has been some surface movement, which is in itself not usually a big concern. These movements have caused the anchor system to deflect about 1/8 inch, so it is taking on more load.*

We think we should wait another 6 months and take an additional reading that we will pay for. There is a possibility that all the wet weather has raised the ground water table in general, which can add loading.²

(R. p. 1172 (emphasis added)). Bart Schmidt then responded, joking: "Should we put a rope around the house and tie it to a tree?" (Id.). Mr. Wolosick responded with a reassuring e-mail, noting the movements are "very small" and only detectable due to the inclinometer. (Id.) He continued: "So far, this movement is not enough to cause problems. We just need it to stop!" (Id.). Mr. Wolosick did visit the property in that summer but took no further action. (R. p. 974, lines 9-13).

Mr. Wolosick testified as follows about his reaction to the QORE report:

The only thing I recall is that we were concentrating on damage to the house and I believe I reported to him that I talked to the Schmidts and they said we don't have any damage. And I said well, if you – if you see anything that you're concerned about, you know, you hear a pop, you see a crack, call us.

(R. p. 966, lines 2-8).

F. October 2006 – Water Line Break

The Schmidts e-mailed Mr. Wolosick in October of 2006 to report that a water line had broken:

² Notably, despite citing this to the Schmidts as a possible explanation, Mr. Wolosick testified early in his deposition that the design had assumed a higher water table to account for just such eventualities. (R. p. 867, lines 17-33).

Dear John: Hope all's well with you! Probably the first time we have had to call a plumber in two and a half years. Last night just before midnight our water main PVC pipe broke just outside the house wall. This has happened about the same point at least three times prior to your big fix. There was a tension break in the one inch fitting at a joint about two feet from the outside house wall. The break, or pipe movement gap was about 5/8" after we had dug it up. The main water line goes out of the house directly towards the lake, about 15 feet (past the walkway), then a 90 degree turn to the right and up the hill to the street. The previous breaks were attributed to the landslide movement towards the lake, pulling the pipe with it. Your comments would be appreciated. May we supply any additional information, and we may have a photo if that would help (if we can get it onto my machine!). Kind regards, and thanks for your assistance.
Bart & Stephanie

(R. pp. 1173-1180) . Mr. Wolosick responded:

Bart: Please send the photo when you can.

As I mentioned when we had lunch at your house, there is another landslide that has developed to the right side, looking downhill, in your yard. That landslide is pulling on the right side of the block of earth that failed previously. The scarp of that slide exposes the big PVC pipe that runs along the edge of your yard.

I would guess that this slide has progressed and you have a taller scarp showing even more PVC pipe than when I was there last time. Has the separation at the top of the stairs grown?

This secondary slide is tugging, through friction, on the side of the previous block. We should have your inclinometer read again.

Unfortunately, I have been working out of town quite a bit and out of the office. But you can always call or email me. I will try to get over, but I am unavailable for a few weeks.

(Id.). Mr. Schmidt responded with five photographs. He commented that one photo was showing earth movement towards the lake and asked if they should contact QORE. (Id.).

Mr. Wolosick reviewed the photos and responded:

Bart: OK. Wow, there is a progressive slide that has developed in front of the big scarp of the new slide. I think it would be prudent to have Qore read the inclinometer again.

(Id.).

G. November 2006 – Continued Movement

As suggested, Mr. Schmidt engaged QORE to take another inclinometer reading, which was done on October 31, 2006. QORE found that “[t]he slope has experienced an additional movement of 0.1 to 0.2 inches, depending on the depth and axes, since our last survey on June 28, 2005” and that “the majority of the slope movement appears to have occurred at about 28 feet below grade.” (R. pp. 1181-1188).

Asked what he did in response to this report showing, on the heels of the water line break, continuing movement in the slope, Mr. Wolosick responded as follows:

And so I talked with the Schmits and I said, okay, any cracks, any pops in the house, any damage you’re hearing? No, everything’s fine. And so I said, well, if you recall when we looked at the hill and the photos you sent, I believe that the second slide is occurring and is rubbing on the side of what we’ve got going on there. The good thing is, is that our system is powerful enough to resist that and as long as you don’t have any damage we’re good.

(R. p. 983, lines 12-21). This conversation took place in December of 2006. (Id. at R. p. 983, lines 22-24).

H. No Further Investigation

Mr. Wolosick cannot recall with any certainty any other communication with the Schmidts until he was contacted by Stephanie Schmidt in 2015. Asked why he conducted no further investigation during this nine-year period, and just assumed that the movement had stopped, Mr. Wolosick replied: “*It may not have stopped* but it didn’t move enough to damage the house.” (R. p. 985, lines 1-2 (emphasis added)).

I. Sale of the Residence

In 2015, Mr. Wolosick received a call from Stephanie Schmidt in which she explained that she and her husband were selling their house. (R. p. 870, lines 17-25). According to Mr. Wolosick, Stephanie Schmidt stated that she assumed a buyer would want to see the documents

relating to the fix and she was unable to locate them. (Id. at R. p. 871, lines 14-17). Mr. Wolosick agreed to provide documents and then asked his assistant “to take the whole file and copy everything that was there” (Id. at R. p. 986, lines 2-5). Mr. Wolosick commented on the sheer volume of documents – which apparently numbered approximately 600 pages – remarking it was “a stack a foot tall of stuff.” (Id. at R. p. 986, lines: 1-5).

J. Hugh Watson Purchases Residence After Conferring with Wolosick

Hugh Watson was looking at another home on Shipmaster Drive when he became aware of the Schmidt residence. (R. p. 571, lines 1-7). The Schmidts disclosed prior slope stabilization work and provided a brief explanation of the work that had been done and Mr. Wolosick’s contact information. (Id. at R. p. 574, lines 3-11). Documentation on the work was not provided to Mr. Watson but was available in the house for him to review. (Id. at R. p. 574, lines 11-15; R. p. 575, lines 20-23).

Mrs. Schmidt provided prospective buyers with a note that included Mr. Wolosick’s contact information. (R. p. 1393). Within the note, she relayed that: “John assured me that the house is stable and ‘won’t go anywhere’ but the company legally cannot write a letter to that effect.” (Id.). She offered that buyers could contact Mr. Wolosick. (Id.).

Hugh Watson called Mr. Wolosick and explained that he was planning to purchase the home and that the Schmidts had told him that Wolosick would be willing to speak with him about the work. (R. p. 988, lines 11-20; R. p. 577, lines 17-25; R. p. 578, lines 1-4). Mr. Wolosick agreed to do so, and he told Mr. Watson about the slope stabilization project and what it consisted of. (Id. At R. p. 578, lines 15-24). He talked about the company, how they were leaders in the field of soil movement stabilization and do work around the country and world. (Id.). And Mr. Wolosick expressed confidence in the system, explaining “it was a heavy duty

system and that [Watson] didn't have anything to worry about because it's solid." (R p. 989, lines 12-16). Mr. Wolosick also stated that the system would last for another sixty years or more. (R. p. 578, lines 22-24).

The call was notable for what Mr. Wolosick *did not* share. Mr. Wolosick shared none of the details of the movement that had taken place between 2002 and 2006. He did not share that he believed that another landslide had developed that was impacting the installed system and having effects upon the house. He did not share that the system had moved beyond the expected threshold within just the first couple of years. He did not share that the readings had been "unusual and a bit perplexing" to him. He did not share that he had discovered that the soils were weaker than he had or that he had observed a soil bulge. He did not share that slope movement had caused water line breaks. He did not share that he had not been to the property for nine years or that the slope may still be moving. He did not even share that an inclinometer was installed on the property and could be utilized to diagnose the movement. Instead – in Mr. Wolosick's own words – he simply told this prospective purchaser "he didn't have anything to worry about"

Mr. Watson was reassured by the call and felt that Mr. Wolosick seemed "very credible." (R. p. 579, lines 1-2). He was also impressed by the description of the company and did online research that confirmed that Keller was "a big geotechnical company" that seemed "qualified for complex work." (*Id.* at R. p. 579, lines 16-21). Mr. Watson then closed on the property in May of 2015. (*Id.* at R. p. 572, lines 15-17).

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