THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2023-CP-37-00329
Appellate Case No. 2025-000537

RECEIVED

Oct 24 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Hugh T. Watson,

Appellant,

v.

Hayward Baker, Inc.; Keller North
America, Inc.; and Ground
Technology, Inc. d/b/a
D'Appolonia Engineering Division
of Ground Technology, Inc.,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT KELLER NORTH AMERICA, INC.,
SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO HAYWARD BAKER, INC.

Kirby D. Shealy III (SC Bar No. 11556)
Katherine H. Mills (SC Bar No. 104665)
ADAMS AND REESE LLP
1221 Main Street, Suite 1200
Columbia, South Carolina 29201

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

I. The Circuit Court Correctly Held Watson’s Claims Against Keller for Negligence, Gross Negligence, Breach of Implied Warranties, Negligent Misrepresentation, and Constructive Fraud Were Barred by the Statute of Limitations.

The circuit court properly concluded that Watson’s claims against Keller for negligence, gross negligence, breach of implied warranties, negligent misrepresentation, and constructive fraud were barred by the applicable three-year statute of limitations set forth in South Carolina Code Section 15-3-530. (Order 10.) Applying South Carolina’s objective discovery rule, the circuit court correctly found that Watson knew or should have known of the alleged defects and of Keller’s prior slope stabilization work no later than 2015, when he purchased the property and came into possession of all documentation upon which he now relies. (Order 9–12.)

A. Governing Law

Under South Carolina law, a cause of action accrues when a plaintiff knows, or by exercising reasonable diligence should know, that he has a potential claim. *Dean v. Ruscon Corp.*, 321 S.C. 360, 363, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996). “The exercise of reasonable diligence means simply that an injured party must act with some promptness where the facts and circumstances of an injury would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of his has been invaded or that some claim against another party might exist.” *Gibson v. Bank of Am., N.A.*, 383 S.C. 399, 406, 680 S.E.2d 778, 782 (Ct. App. 2009). The fact “that an injured party may not comprehend the full extent of the damage is immaterial” *Id.* at 782. The statute of limitations is triggered not merely by knowledge of an injury, but by knowledge of facts, diligently acquired, sufficient to put a person on notice of the existence of a cause of action against another. *Id.* This is an objective, not a subjective, determination. *Id.* “South Carolina’s statute of limitations requires ‘very little to start the clock.’” *Maher v. Tietex Corp.*, 331 S.C. 371, 380, 500 S.E.2d 204, 208 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting *Roe v. Doe*, 28 F.3d 404, 407 (4th Cir. 1994)).

B. Watson Knew or Should Have Known of His Claims in 2015

The undisputed evidence shows that Watson possessed actual or constructive notice of his alleged claims when he purchased the property in 2015. The Schmidts’ seller disclosure form expressly identified Keller’s slope stabilization work, and supporting documentation was available to Watson prior to closing. (Watson Dep. 23:8–22.) Watson admitted he received these materials, briefly “thumbed through” them, and made no further inquiry beyond a five-minute phone call with Wolosick regarding the work Keller had performed some 13 years previously. (*Id.* 24:13-16, 29:7-23; Wolosick Dep. 163:1–2, 219:16–18.)

Watson’s pre-purchase home inspection also documented visible signs of potential

instability, including cracks, floor sloping, and erosion. (Watson Dep. 77:2–80:3.) These conditions would have prompted a reasonably diligent purchaser to investigate further, particularly given his knowledge that substantial subsurface work had been performed on the property. After Watson purchased the property in 2015, he discovered more documents and correspondence related to the project, including Keller’s reports, warranty materials, and inclinometer readings showing movement in excess of Keller’s warranty to the Schmidts. (Watson Dep. 31:1–32:14.) Yet, Watson did nothing in 2015. The only thing that prompted Watson to look into the slope stabilization work in 2020 was a new crack that he noticed above the kitchen sliding glass door. (Watson Depo. 100:11–20.)

As the circuit court found, if Watson had simply read the documents in his possession or retained a third party to review them in 2015, as he later did, he would have “discovered” the same information upon which his 2023 complaint now relies. (Order 12.) The circuit court concluded Watson possessed actual or constructive knowledge of the underlying facts giving rise to his alleged claims as early as 2015. (*Id.*) Because the Amended Complaint was not filed until April 27, 2023—eight years later—the circuit court dismissed all claims against Keller, with the exception of promissory estoppel, as time-barred. (*Id.*)

This case is squarely governed by *Dean*, where the Supreme Court held that a plaintiff’s cause of action accrued upon first discovering structural cracks, not when a second crack and subsequent damage later appeared. 321 S.C. at 365–66, 468 S.E.2d at 648; *see also Barr v. City of Rock Hill*, 330 S.C. 640, 645–46, 500 S.E.2d 157, 160 (Ct. App. 1998) (affirming summary judgment where four annual termite reports indicated excessive moisture in the homeowner’s crawl space and an engineering report two years later identified multiple unrelated defects, but the homeowner did not file suit until two years after receiving that report); *Allwin v. Russ Cooper*

Associations, Inc., 426 S.C. 1, 20–21, 825 S.E.2d 707, 717 (Ct. App. 2019) (affirming summary judgment where plaintiff was on notice of water intrusion, roofing defects, and further construction deficiencies despite the plaintiff’s “conservative but conscious course of action in response to conflicting opinions” about the extent of the damage).

C. Watson’s Arguments Do Not Create a Genuine Issue of Material Fact

Watson contends the documents were too technical for a layperson and that the statute did not begin to run until 2020, when he noticed a new crack and contacted Wolosick. (Appellant’s Initial Br. 20–23.) This argument fails both legally and factually.

The discovery rule imposes an objective standard; it does not excuse a plaintiff’s failure to act because information is complex or requires expert assistance. *Gibson*, 383 S.C. at 406, 680 S.E.2d at 782; *Dean*, 321 S.C. at 364, 468 S.E.2d at 647 (“[T]he fact that the injured party may not comprehend the full extent of the damage is immaterial.”); *Wiggins v. Edwards*, 314 S.C. 126, 128, 442 S.E.2d 169, 170 (1994) (“The statute of limitations begins to run from this point and not when advice of counsel is sought or a full-blown theory of recovery developed.” (quoting *Snell v. Columbia Gun Exchange, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 301, 303, 278 S.E.2d 333, 334 (1981))). The law is clear that “an injured party ‘must act with some promptness’ when they are on notice of a potential claim[.]” *Allwin*, 426 S.C. at 20, 825 S.E.2d at 717 (quoting *Dean*, 321 S.C. at 363–64, 468 S.E.2d at 647). Accordingly, a plaintiff may not toll the statute of limitations by ignoring available information or failing to make an inquiry. Furthermore, the record reflects that the inclinometer data was summarized in plain-language correspondence to the Schmidts, laypersons themselves, which Watson also possessed.

Watson’s reliance on his 2020 discovery of an additional crack does not change the analysis. As the circuit court observed, the only difference between 2015 and 2020 was Watson’s

decision finally to investigate. (*See* Order 12.) The law does not permit him to postpone accrual of his claims indefinitely until he chooses to review documents long in his possession. *See Epstein v. Brown*, 363 S.C. 372, 376, 610 S.E.2d 816, 818 (2005) (limitations period triggered when facts existed that “would have put a reasonable person on notice”). Nor can he create a factual issue through speculation or unreasonable inference. *Floyd*, 403 S.C. at 477, 744 S.E.2d at 166 (“[I]t is not sufficient for a party to create an inference that is not reasonable or an issue of fact that is not genuine.”) (citing *Evans v. Stewart*, 370 S.C. 522, 526, 636 S.E.2d 632, 635 (Ct. App. 2006)); *Harris Teeter, Inc. v. Moore & Van Allen, PLLC*, 390 S.C. 275, 299, 701 S.E.2d 742, 754 (2010) (Hearn, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) (“To survive summary judgment, the evidence presented [by the non-movant] must amount to more than mere speculation and conjecture.”) (citing *McKnight v. S.C. Dep’t of Corrs.*, 385 S.C. 380, 390, 684 S.E.2d 566, 571 (Ct. App. 2009)).

Watson’s own testimony and argument further defeat his position. He admitted that the documentation forming the basis of his expert opinions had been in his possession since 2015, including inclinometer readings showing movement beyond Keller’s warranty limits. (Watson Dep. 30:19–32:14; Lewis Dep. 153:20–156:18.) His claims rest entirely on work Keller performed between 2002 and 2006 and on documents generated during that time, none of which changed between 2015 and 2023. If those materials were sufficient to support Watson’s allegations in 2023, they were equally sufficient to put him on inquiry notice in 2015. This point bears emphasizing. A review of Watson’s Amended Complaint confirms Watson alleges that Keller “knew or should have known” during a single 2015 phone call that their statements about the soil stabilization system were false, that the system was failing, and that subsurface soils continued to move downhill. (Am. Compl. ¶ 25.) But how, according to Watson, should Keller have known this? By virtue of the inclinometer measurements taken between 2004 and 2006. (Am. Compl. ¶ 26.)

In other words, the very documents Watson cites as the basis for his claims—the same documents he alleges “show that [Keller] misrepresented the condition of the Property and the performance of their system” and that reveal “an in-ground inclinometer which could have easily been used by Watson to check for movement” (Am. Compl. ¶ 28)—are the documents he had in hand in 2015. That is precisely Keller’s point: if those documents were sufficient to alert Watson to potential defects and misrepresentations in 2020, they were equally sufficient to do so in 2015. Indeed, Watson’s own expert conceded that the materials underlying his opinions were readily available and in Watson’s possession in 2015. (Lewis Dep. 153:20–156:18.)

D. The Circuit Court Correctly Applied the Law to the Undisputed Facts

Watson’s assertion that the circuit court viewed the evidence in the light most favorable to Keller mischaracterizes the record. (Appellant’s Initial Br. 18.) The circuit court applied the correct summary judgment standard, viewing the evidence objectively and finding no genuine factual dispute. The record contains no inference that could reasonably delay accrual to 2020 or beyond.

As the circuit court observed, Watson’s position would place him in a better posture than the original homeowners, whose claims would have been barred years earlier under the same facts. Keller’s correspondence with the Schmidts between 2004 and 2006 documented movement beyond warranty limits and additional slope activity. Those communications, which were in the materials Watson possessed in 2015, would have triggered the statute of limitations for the Schmidts, and the same rule applies to Watson. To hold otherwise would allow a subsequent purchaser to resurrect stale claims simply by waiting.

Because the undisputed evidence establishes that Watson knew or should have known of the facts giving rise to his claims no later than 2015, the circuit court properly concluded that his

2023 lawsuit is time-barred as a matter of law. As the circuit court aptly observed, Watson turned an unreasonably blind eye to the very claims he now asserts he “discovered” in 2020. (Order at 12.) The order granting summary judgment to Keller should therefore be affirmed.

II. The Circuit Court Correctly Held Watson’s Claims Against Keller Were All Independently Barred by the Statute of Repose.

Additionally, all of Watson’s claims³ are barred by the statute of repose. South Carolina’s statute of repose provides: “No actions to recover damages based upon or arising out of the defective or unsafe condition of an improvement to real property may be brought more than thirteen years after substantial completion of the improvement.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-640 (2005).⁴ It is undisputed that more than thirteen years elapsed between substantial completion of Keller’s work (2002) and Watson’s suit in 2023. The claims are therefore barred unless Watson carried his burden to bring them within a statutory exception. The circuit court correctly found he did not.

Section 15-3-670(A) provides that the statute of repose is “not available as a defense to a

³ Watson asserts the circuit court’s order does not expressly extend its statute of repose ruling to his claims for breach of implied warranties, negligent misrepresentation, and promissory estoppel. (Appellant’s Initial Br. 24 n.9.) The circuit court’s order plainly states that Watson’s “claims are barred by the statute of repose,” without limitation or qualification. (Order 12.) In any event, the circuit court’s additional findings and conclusions addressing these individual causes of action provide independent, alternative grounds supporting summary judgment, as discussed below.

⁴ The statute of repose has since been modified to provide for an eight-year time period. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-640 (Supp. 2024) (“No actions to recover damages based upon or arising out of the defective or unsafe condition of an improvement to real property may be brought more than eight years after substantial completion of the improvement.”). The slope stabilization work was undisputedly completed in 2002, well before this amendment took effect. Nevertheless, the circuit court correctly observed that under either version of the statute, the repose period expired long before Watson filed his Amended Complaint in 2023. (Order 12 n. 2.) For purposes of analysis, and to view the record in the light most favorable to Watson, Keller applies the more generous thirteen-year period.

person guilty of fraud, gross negligence, or recklessness in providing components in furnishing materials, in developing real property, in performing or furnishing the design, plans, specifications, surveying, planning, supervision, testing or observation of construction, construction of, or land surveying, in connection with such an improvement, or to a person who conceals any such cause of action.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-670(A) (Supp. 2024). Watson invokes only the “gross negligence” portion of this exception. (Appellant’s Initial Br. 25.)⁵ His attempt fails for three independent reasons, and in all events the record confirms Keller exercised at least slight care.

A. The Gross Negligence Exception Cannot Apply Where No Duty Was Owed to Watson

“Gross negligence is the intentional conscious failure to do something which it is incumbent upon one to do or the doing of a thing intentionally that one ought not to do. It is the failure to exercise slight care.” *Jinks v. Richland Cnty.*, 355 S.C. 341, 345, 585 S.E.2d 281, 283 (2003) (citing *Etheredge v. Richland Sch. Dist. One*, 341 S.C. 307, 310, 534 S.E.2d 275, 277 (2000)). “Gross negligence has also been defined as a relative term, and means the absence of care that is necessary under the circumstances.” *Etheredge*, 341 S.C. at 310, 534 S.E.2d at 277 (citing *Hollins v. Richland Cnty. Sch. Dist. One*, 310 S.C. 486, 490, 427 S.E.2d 654, 656 (1993)).

⁵ Watson initially asserts the exceptions to the statute of repose apply based on gross negligence and recklessness. (Appellant’s Initial Br. 25.) However, Watson did not appeal the circuit court’s ruling that his Amended Complaint failed to allege recklessness, and as such, he cannot now invoke recklessness as an exception to the application of the statute of repose. (Order 17.) *See Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) (“[A]n unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case.”). Moreover, Watson’s brief contains no substantive argument or supporting authority on recklessness, thereby abandoning the issue on appeal. *See State v. Lindsey*, 394 S.C. 354, 363, 714 S.E.2d 554, 558 (Ct. App. 2011) (“An issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority.” (citations omitted)). In any event, even if the Court were to consider it, the circuit court correctly concluded that Watson failed to state or support any claim for recklessness, and, as with his other tort claims, any such theory would in any case be barred by the applicable statute of limitations.

It is axiomatic that gross negligence presupposes a duty owed to the plaintiff. *See Hendricks v. Clemson Univ.*, 353 S.C. 449, 458, 578 S.E.2d 711, 715 (2003) (stating where no duty owed, unnecessary to consider whether conduct amounted to gross negligence).

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